

Journal of Chromatography B, 733 (1999) 265-272

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

# Chromatographic and electrophoretic approaches in ink analysis

J.A. Zlotnick<sup>a,\*</sup>, F.P. Smith<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Counterfeit Division, US Secret Service, 950 H Street N.W., Suite 5100, Washington DC 20001, USA <sup>b</sup>Department of Justice Sciences, University of Alabama, Birmingham, AL 35294-2060, USA

#### Abstract

Inks are manufactured from a wide variety of substances that exhibit very different chemical behaviors. Inks designed for use in different writing instruments or printing methods have quite dissimilar components. Since the 1950s chromatographic and electrophoretic methods have played important roles in the analysis of inks, where compositional information may have bearing on the investigation of counterfeiting, fraud, forgery, and other crimes. Techniques such as paper chromatography and electrophoresis, thin-layer chromatography, high-performance liquid chromatography, gas chromatography, gel electrophoresis, and the relatively new technique of capillary electrophoresis have all been explored as possible avenues for the separation of components of inks. This paper reviews the components of different types of inks and applications of the above separation methods are reviewed. Published by Elsevier Science B.V.

Keywords: Reviews; Ink

## Contents

	266
2. Components of major types of ink	200
3. Chromatographic techniques	266
3.1. Paper chromatography	266
3.2. Thin-layer chromatography	268
3.3. High-performance liquid chromatography	268
3.4. Gas chromatography	270
4. Electrophoretic techniques	270
4.1. Traditional electrophoresis	270
4.2. Capillary electrophoresis	270
5. Ink dating	271
6. Conclusion	271
References	271

## 1. Introduction

The forensic ink chemist faces more complex and challenging analytical problems as sophisticated

doz

writing instruments and printing technologies have evolved. Modern demands for specialized writing and printing instruments have resulted in an explosion of ink formulations, each of which may contain dozens of chemical components. The wide array of materials used in inks, coupled with the possibility of

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author.

<sup>0378-4347/99/\$ –</sup> see front matter Published by Elsevier Science B.V. PII: S0378-4347(99)00312-6

contamination from the writing surface, as well as chemical changes as ink ages, make separation techniques requisite for the analysis of such a complex mixture. However, chromatography and electrophoresis were not among the first techniques used for this purpose.

Prior to 1950, separation techniques were foreign to the field of ink analysis because courts were unreceptive to destructive techniques and because the methods themselves were in fledgling stages of development. Document examiners relied upon filter photography, alternate light sources, and chemical spot tests to differentiate ink samples. Nondestructive methods such as infrared and diffuse reflectance infrared spectroscopy [1–3], microspectrophotometry [4–10], visible and infrared luminescence [11–19], and dichroic filter viewing [12] remain important, valuable tools for the document examiner.

Because minimally destructive techniques are now widely applied to ink differentiation problems, chromatography and electrophoresis have been explored as potential methods for differentiation of ink samples. Described in more detail below, thin-layer chromatography (TLC) is one of the most popular methods because of its ease of use and its ability to quickly generate qualitative information unavailable through nondestructive spectroscopy. Although TLC is quite cost effective and sufficient for differentiation of many writing inks, much research has been devoted to exploring applications of instrumental techniques such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and capillary electrophoresis (CE) for ink analysis. Gas chromatography (GC) has also been applied, often for the analysis of volatile components in ink dating procedures. It is expected that the use of these methods will further improve the chemist's ability to distinguish between ink samples due to their greater sensitivity and resolving power. It is the purpose of this paper to explore the many types of chromatography and electrophoresis that have found application in ink analysis, as well as to provide a brief introduction to common types of materials the ink chemist may encounter in an ink sample.

## 2. Components of major types of ink

The composition of any ink depends on its in-

tended function. Alteration of ink components during the manufacturing process changes properties such as tackiness, drying characteristics, color, cost, fluidity, or resistance to degradation by light, heat, water and other environmental factors. In the case of writing utensils, different types such as fountain, rollerball, ballpoint, felt-tip, gel, and other pens have different mechanisms for placing writing on a page and therefore have different requirements in terms of the properties of the ink suitable for use. For example, ballpoint pen inks are thick and viscous and generally contain higher proportions of organic dyes than other pen types, such as rollerballs or felt-tip markers, that are characteristically lighter and more fluid. Naturally, differences between formulations designed for the same class of writing utensil may be quite great between manufacturers and even within a single ink manufacturer. Printing inks are similarly variable because different printing processes (such as lithography, intaglio, or digital processes such as inkjet) require inks with characteristics suitable for the process used. In any case, familiarity with the printing process used to create a document may suggest some initial compositional information. Some general categories of materials used in inks are shown in Table 1.

Ink components may be classified by their functions in the ink matrix. The liquid components are collectively referred to as the vehicle and include materials such as oil, solvents and resins that help shape the inks flow characteristics, drying mechanism, drying time, polarity, and cost. Coloring matter may be added as a combination of dyes and pigments. Dyes are distinguished by their solubility in the vehicle, whereas pigments are included as very finely ground dispersions that are not solubilised. Other components such as waxes, plasticisers, driers and other miscellaneous materials may also be added. Further information on the manufacture and composition of inks and related materials is available [20-22]. Familiarity with the processes and materials used from ink manufacture to actual writing or printing will assist the forensic chemist in selecting suitable analytical methods for ink analysis.

#### 3. Chromatographic techniques

#### 3.1. Paper chromatography

Dating from the early 1950s, the first chromato-

Table 1 Components of inks

Ink component	component Characteristics	
Coloring material:		Appearance
Dyes	Classified as acidic, basic, solvent, etc. depending on	
	characteristics	
	Soluble in vehicle	
Pigments	Consist of finely ground multimolecular granules	
	Insoluble in vehicle	
Vehicle:		Flow and drying
Oils	Can be linseed, soy, mineral or other type of oil	characteristics
	Classified as drying, non-drying, or combination,	
	depending on degree of unsaturation of oil	
Solvents	Can be any of several organic solvents, or water	
	Analyzed in many ink dating procedures	
Resins	Noncrystalline material of high molecular weight	
	May be natural or synthetic	
Other additives:		
Driers	Catalyze oxidation of drying oils	Drying characteristics
	Many are inorganic salts	
Plasticisers	Reduces brittleness of ink	Stability of ink film
	Consist of solvents with low volatility	
Surfactants	Changes surface tension of ink	Wetting ability
	Typically consist of soaps or detergents	
Waxes	Increase flexibility and reduce brittleness	Hardness/flexibility
	May be hydrocarbon waxes, greases	
	such as petroleum jelly	

graphic method used to analyze inks was paper chromatography. These efforts were driven in part by the increased production of inks based on organic dyes, to which chromatographic methods are particularly appropriate. The earlier iron-gallotannate inks are not easily separated by chromatography.

Among the first published articles on the topic were methods of separating liquid and dried ink components on filter paper strips using distilled water [23] or organic solvents [24]. In 1954 [25], a method was described for the analysis of fluid and dry ballpoint pen inks by horizontal paper chromatography, in which separation was carried out on a circular piece of filter paper with dots of ink arranged in a circle near the center of the paper. The mobile phase flowed by capillary action through a paper 'wick' onto the center of the filter paper, where it spread radially and enacted the separation, vielding a colorful array of separated dye components. Further work on ballpoint pen inks was done that combined horizontal paper chromatography in various organic solvents with chemical spot tests to attempt identification of individual dye components in liquid inks [26]. A wide variety of liquid and dry inks, including among others, fountain pen inks, ballpoint pen inks, and stamp pad inks, were also analyzed by horizontal paper chromatography [27].

Although it remained a popular method of discriminating inks into the 1960s, paper chromatography has been effectively replaced by TLC because of the latter's superior resolution. Inability to completely distinguish ink samples was a frequent problem encountered by researchers in paper chromatography. Extraction solvent selection and extraction of sufficient ink were also difficult problems, and the procedure was tedious. Nonetheless, in 1989 Lederer and Schudel [28] proposed a paper chromatographic system for ink analysis suitable for small police agencies with minimal laboratory facilities. The system suggested, although limited in sophistication, is extremely cost-effective, generates no hazardous waste, and requires minimal space in which to operate.

## 3.2. Thin-layer chromatography

As chromatographic science developed, thin layers of silica gel, cellulose, or other materials gradually replaced filter paper as the stationary phase of choice. One precursor to modern TLC is disk chromatography [29], that was developed in the early 1950s. The questioned ink sample was extracted from the document using a suitable solvent and placed at the center of a circular disk of dry talc slurry deposited on a microscope slide. Drops of solvent were gradually added to the center of the slurry, creating a circular chromatogram as the solvent flowed from the center of the disk outward. Since then, TLC techniques have undergone many developments. Much research has been devoted to optimizing solvent systems for TLC of inks, and a wide variety have been suggested for use with different stationary phases.

Brunelle describes two solvent systems in his suggested ink identification procedures [30]. These include ethyl acetate-solute ethanol-distilled water (70:35:30) and *n*-butanol-ethanol-distilled water (50:10:15), with 30-min development of spotted ink samples completed on Eastman precoated silica gel sheets. Another standard method proposed by Kelly and Cantu [31] utilized silica and cellulose stationary phases and two mobile phases, consisting of nbutanol-isopropanol-distilled water (2:1:1) and nbutanol-ethanol-10% aqueous oxalic acid (50:10:15). Tappolet has reported optimized HPTLC separation conditions for various colors of fountain, ballpoint and fiber-tipped pens [32]. TLC separation conditions suggested by various researchers are indicated in Table 2.

Among the many improvements suggested are reductions in the amount of ink sample necessary to perform TLC [33,34], improved separation of dyes with similar Rf values [35], on-line equilibrium sandwich chamber extraction [36], and suggestions for quality control [37]. Furthermore, higher resolutions have been demonstrated with the application of high-performance thin-layer chromatography (HPTLC), in which the particles composing the thin layer are of substantially smaller size than in conventional TLC [32,38].

TLC has been shown to be effective for the analysis of ballpoint inks [39–41], typewriter ribbon

inks [42], fiber-tipped pen inks [43], felt markers [41] and inks of other types. However, solvent systems designed for writing inks are often unsuitable for India inks and printing inks because they contain many insoluble pigments that are not well suited to separation by TLC. This problem has been addressed by separation of synthetic organic pigments using a large number of solvent systems [44], each applicable to separation of different combinations of pigments, and, more recently, using three solvents run sequentially to consecutively shorter distances on the same plate [45]. Like paper chromatography, TLC of inks produces a colorful separation of dye components, but the noncolored components remain invisible without additional visualisation procedures.

Although spectral methods are frequently applied to intact inks prior to extraction from paper, some researchers found it effective to use alternate light sources [46], infrared luminescence [47,48], or microspectrophotometry [49] to characterize components following separation by TLC.

## 3.3. High-performance liquid chromatography

While TLC remains the most widely used chromatographic technique for the analysis of inks, because of its ease of use and low cost, its resolution is limited. It is often incapable of differentiating between ink formulations or distinguishing between different batches of ink of the same general formula. Furthermore, TLC does not permit ready viewing of noncolored components of inks. In such cases, HPLC offers more resolving power and may generate quantitative information on colored or noncolored components. HPLC has successfully differentiated many ink samples indistinguishable by TLC. Nonetheless, HPLC requires greater technical skill on the part of the operator, a larger ink sample, and a greater monetary investment than TLC. Consequently, it remains less popular than the latter for routine analyses.

In the first published application of HPLC to ink analysis, Lyter used a normal-phase silica column to successfully distinguish a number of ballpoint pens with a mobile phase of dichoroethane–ethanol–formamide (89:10:1) [50]. Since then most researchers

Table 2					
Solvent	systems	for	TLC	of	inks

Researcher(s)	Solvent system(s)			Reference
	Number or ink type	Composition	Parts	
Brunelle and Pro	(1)	Ethyl acetate Absolute ethanol Distilled water	70 35 30	[30]
	(2)	<i>n-</i> Butanol Ethanol Distilled water	50 10 15	
Kelly and Cantu	(1)	<i>n</i> -Butanol Isopropanol Distilled water	2 1 1	[31]
	(2)	<i>n</i> -Butanol Ethanol 10% Oxalic acid	50 10 15	
Milovanovic, Ristic-Solajic, Janjic	Synthetic organic pigments in artists' paints	Many different solvent systems are suggested for separation of various combinations of pigments	See Ref.	[44]
Tappolet	Fountain pen inks: Black, blue-black, royal blue, or blue	Isobutanol Ethanol 99% Acetic Acid	20 5 5	[32]
	Red inks	Distilled water Isopropanol 1-Pentanol Distilled water	10 12 22 6	
	Green inks	Conc. formic acid Butanol (saturated with water)	3 97	
	Ballpoint pen inks: Black and blue	Ethyl Acetate Ethanol Distilled water	70 35 30	
	Blue and red	Methanol n-Propanol I-Pentanol Distilled water	2 10 26 4	
	Fiber-tip pen inks: Black and blue	Isopropanol 1-Pentanol Distilled water	10 25 5	
	Black	Isobutanol Isopropanol Distilled water	23 10 7	
Aginsky	Printing inks, artists' paints, or copy toners	Sequentially: (1) Chloroform (10 cm) (2) Ethyl acetate (7 cm) Isopropanol Water Acetic acid (3) Conc. H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> (2 cm)	- 30 15 10 1	[45]

have adopted reversed-phase systems. Later, Lyter separated ten ballpoint pen inks not distinguishable by TLC [51,52]. He reported that HPLC was capable of detecting subtle batch-to-batch differences. The procedure used a C-18 column with a mobile phase consisting of acetonitrile–water (80:20) with 5 mM Pic B-7 reagent. Keto presented a method of analyzing alkali blue in printing ink, one of the extractable components of such inks [53]. He used a gradient elution system consisting of mixtures of methanol and water, with a C-18 column for the analysis of alkali blue. In all of these examples, detection was accomplished with one or two wavelengths in the ultraviolet region.

Other researchers utilized multiwavelength detectors, that are particularly suitable because they generate spectral as well as chromatographic data that may assist in the identification of separated components. White and Wheals' procedure for ballpoint inks used a rotating disk detector capable of rapidly scanning four wavelengths that provided additional spectral information while requiring minimal data storage capacity [54]. They tested three reversed-phase columns and an optimized eluent consisting of acetonitrile-tetrahydrofuran-water (924:432:644). Tebbett et al. found that a diodearray detector scanning from 200 to 800 nm was effective in differentiating closely related inks [55]. They tested five combinations of mobile and stationary phases and the most effective was a Spherisorb 5 µm ODS column with a mobile phase of acetonitrile-water (80:20) with 0.005 M heptanesulfonic acid at pH 4.7. Analysis was possible using a much smaller sample of ink (on the order of picograms) than previously necessary. In 1993, Lofgren and Andrasko reported a reversed-phase method that employed three detectors (visible, UV and fluorescence) connected in series [56]. In addition, they describe use of sequential solvent extractions for removing printing inks from paper, a troublesome problem because the pigments often become trapped in the drying vehicle.

## 3.4. Gas chromatography

Because most visible components of ink are virtually nonvolatile, GC has been primarily applied to the dating of inks by analysis of the volatile components that comprise the vehicle. Treatment of this subject follows in the section of dating of ink. Pyrolysis GC has been used more in the non-dating chemical analysis of photocopy toners [57-61] than ink, though one application has been reported for ink and paper samples [62].

#### 4. Electrophoretic techniques

#### 4.1. Traditional electrophoresis

In 1954 Brown and Kirk reported an early application of paper electrophoresis to ink analysis and its comparison to paper chromatography [63]. These researchers presented a diethylbarbiturate buffer and an inexpensive, commercially available electrophoresis apparatus for the separation of more than 50 blue, blue-black and black writing inks. They achieved chromatographic separation using horizontal paper chromatography and two solvent systems: n-butanol-acetic acid-water (52:13:35 parts by volume) and n-butanol-acetone-water (4:2:1 parts by volume). The authors concluded that paper electrophoresis exhibited many advantages over paper chromatography, including speed of analysis, quality of separation and improved reproducibility. The authors suggested that the two methods were complementary and would be effectively used in tandem. In 1963, Crown detailed construction of power sources for electrophoresis using commonly available electronic equipment, such as radios [64]. Soon afterwards, Thompson included aluminum citrate or acetic acid-butyric acid-water electrophoretic buffers, describing results superior to electrophoretic separations obtained using weak acidic or basic buffers or paper chromatography [65]. Moon found electrophoresis effective for separation of felt-tipped pen inks, but noted that electrophoresis requires considerably more ink than TLC and a greater investment in time and equipment [66]. Electrophoresis has not attracted as much attention as the various chromatographic techniques and many researchers consider it inferior to chromatography for ink separations.

#### 4.2. Capillary electrophoresis

Although it is a relatively new analytical technique, CE has already found many applications in Unlike many other analytical methods, the basic hardware common to CE instrumentation can be adapted to suit a wide variety of analytes without great cost or difficulty. This is intriguing because different ink types contain materials with widely varying properties, making it difficult to identify a single separation method suitable for all components of a single ink, let alone a general method suitable for all types of inks. Most importantly, CE has extraordinarily small sample requirements and it is possible to enact a separation with nanogram (or even picogram) quantities. This is advantageous in minimizing the destruction of the document being tested.

In 1991, Fanali and Schudel reported the first CE analysis of inks, describing a series of liquid black inks and red water-soluble fiber-tipped pen inks that were found to be qualitatively distinguishable [67]. CE was also applied to 26 black rollerball pen and marker inks extracted from paper by Tsutsumi and Ohga [68]. The procedure readily differentiated inks originating from different manufacturers and gave reproducible migration times and relative peak areas. In recent research, Rhode et al. obtained baseline separation for components of several liquid fountain pen inks, that enabled all the tested inks to be qualitatively differentiated [69]. Preliminary results concerning the analysis of liquid black rollerball pen inks have been reported by Zlotnick and Smith [70].

## 5. Ink dating

capabilities.

The dating of inks has been a topic of sustained interest, with reports by Brunelle and Cantu [71,72]. Initially, methods of dating inks were not aimed at determining the absolute age of writing or printing on paper, but rather at detecting backdating by demonstrating that the ink on a document was not available until after the document was purportedly produced. An example of such an approach was the assembly of a standard ink library, where questioned inks were matched to known inks as occurred in such high-profile cases as the Howard Hughes Mormon will [73]. More recently, Cantu and Prough [74], Brunelle et al. [75], and Brunelle and Lee [76] developed techniques based on the relative rates of extraction of questioned and known inks by various solvents. Stewart reported methods utilizing GC for determination of volatile components [77], as has Aginsky using GC/TLC [78].

## 6. Conclusion

Application of separation methods has advanced the field of ink analysis since the first uses of paper chromatography and electrophoresis. Separation methods provide compositional information rarely available through use of nondestructive techniques, and TLC has been successfully used for ink analysis in the forensic environment for many years. In the future, instrumental applications such as HPLC and CE are expected to lend even greater accuracy to ink determinations due to their quantitative abilities and higher resolving powers.

#### References

- [1] E.M. Suzuki, W.R. Gresham, J. Forensic Sci. 31 (1986) 931.
- [2] B. Trzcinska, Forensic Sci. Int. 46 (1990) 105.
- [3] R.A. Merrill, E.G. Bartick, J. Forensic Sci. 37 (1992) 528.
- [4] D.K. Laing, M.D.J. Isaacs, J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 23 (1983) 147.
- [5] P.W. Pfefferli, Forensic Sci. Int. 23 (1983) 129.
- [6] L.A. Olson, J. Forensic Sci. 31 (1986) 1330.
- [7] E. Springer, A. Zeichner, J. Forensic Sci. 32 (1987) 248.
- [8] A. Zeichner, B. Glattstein, J. Forensic Sci. 37 (1992) 738.
- [9] J. Andrasko, J. Forensic Sci. 39 (1994) 226.
- [10] V.N. Aginsky, J. Forensic Sci. 40 (1995) 475.
- [11] H.L. Hoover, H. L MacDonell, J. Forensic Sci. 9 (1964) 89.
- [12] R.M. Dick, J. Forensic Sci. 15 (1970) 357.
- [13] R.A. Hardcastle, M.G. Hall, J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 18 (1978) 53.
- [14] D.R. Rohilla, S.K. Das Gupta, S.K. Gupta, H.L. Bami, Forensic Sci. Int. 15 (1980) 153.
- [15] C.A. Sensi, A.A. Cantu, J. Forensic Sci. 27 (1982) 196.
- [16] B.E. Dalrymple, J. Forensic Sci. 28 (1983) 692.
- [17] J.A. Tappolet, J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 26 (1986) 293.
- [18] J. Zimmerman, D. Mooney, J. Forensic Sci. 33 (1988) 310.
- [19] R.A. Hornton, L.K. Nelson, J. Forensic Sci. 36 (1991) 838.
- [20] R.L. Brunelle, R.W. Reed, Forensic Examination of Ink and Paper, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, IL, 1984.

- [21] D.A. Crown, The Forensic Examination of Paints and Pigments, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, IL, 1968.
- [22] D.E. Bisset, C. Goodacre, H.A. Idle, R.H. Leach, C.H. Williams (Eds.), The Printing Ink Manual, Northwood, London, 1979.
- [23] A.W. Somerford, J. Crim. Law Crim. Pot. Sci. 43 (1952) 124.
- [24] J.W. Brackett Jr., L.W. Bradford, J. Crim. Law Crim. Pot. Sci. 43 (1952) 530.
- [25] C. Brown, P.L. Kirk, J. Crim. Law Crim. Pot. Sci. 45 (1954) 334.
- [26] D.A. Crown, J.V.P. Conway, P.L. Kirk, J. Crim. Law Crim. Pot. Sci. 52 (1961) 338.
- [27] P.S. Raju, R.C. Banerjee, N.K. Lyengar, J. Forensic Sci. 8 (1963) 268.
- [28] M. Lederer, M. Schudel, J. Chrom. 475 (1989) 451.
- [29] D. Doud, J. Forensic Sci. 3 (1958) 486.
- [30] R.L. Brunelle, M.J. Pro, J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 55 (1972) 823.
- [31] J.D. Kelly, A.A. Cantu, J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 58 (1972) 125.
- [32] J.A. Tappolet, Forensic Sci. Int. 22 (1983) 99.
- [33] K.W. Smalldon, J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 9 (1969) 151.
- [34] R.L. Kuranz, J. Forensic Sci. 31 (1986) 655.
- [35] R.L. Kuranz, J. Forensic Sci. 19 (1974) 852.
- [36] G. Matysik, E. Soczewinski, J. Chromatogr. 355 (1986) 363.
- [37] J.A. Lewis, J. Forensic Sci. 41 (1996) 874.
- [38] R.N. Totty, M.R. Ordidge, L.J. Onion, Forensic Sci. Int. 28 (1985) 137.
- [39] J. Tholl, Police 7 (1960) 7.
- [40] G.R. Nakamura, S.C. Shimoda, J. Crim. Law Crim. Pot. Sci. 56 (1965) 113.
- [41] A. Siouffi, G. Guiochon, J. Chromatogr. 209 (1981) 441.
- [42] R.L. Brunelle, J.F. Negri, A.A. Cantu, A.H. Lyter, J. Forensic Sci. 22 (1977) 807.
- [43] R.S. Verma, K.N. Prasad, G.J. Misra, Forensic Sci. Int. 13 (1979) 65.
- [44] A. Milovanovic, M. Risticolajic, T.J. Janjic, J. Chromatogr. 249 (1982) 149–154.
- [45] V.N. Aginsky, J. Forensic Sci. 38 (1993) 1131.
- [46] J.I. Thornton, P.J. Casale, Forensic Sci. Int. 14 (1979) 215.
- [47] R.M. Kevern, J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 13 (1973) 25.

- [48] R.D. Blackledge, M. Iwan, Forensic Sci. Int. 21 (1983) 165.
- [49] V.N. Aginsky, J. Forensic Sci. 38 (1993) 1111.
- [50] L.F. Colwell, B.L. Karger, J. Assoc. Off Anal. Chem. 60 (1977) 613.
- [51] A.H. Lyter, J. Forensic Sci. 27 (1982) 154.
- [52] A.H. Lyter, in: I.S. Lurie, J.D. Wittwer (Eds.), High-Performance Liquid Chromatography in Forensic Chemistry, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1983, p. 399, Ch. 8.
- [53] R.O. Keto, J. Forensic Sci. 29 (1984) 198.
- [54] P.C. White, B.B. Wheals, J. Chrom. 303 (1984) 211.
- [55] I.R. Tebbett, C. Chen, M. Fitzgerald, L. Olson, J. Forensic Sci. 37 (1992) 1149.
- [56] A. Lofgren, J. Andrasko, J. Forensic Sci. 38 (1993) 1151.
- [57] E.J. Levy, T.P. Wampler, J. Forensic Sci. 31 (1986) 258.
- [58] J. Zimmerman, D. Mooney, M.J. Kimmett, J. Forensic Sci. 31 (1986) 489.
- [59] T.O. Munson, J. Forensic Sci. 34 (1989) 352.
- [60] C.J. Lennard, W.D. Mazzella, J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 31 (1991) 365.
- [61] W.T. Chang, C.W. Huang, W.S. Giang, J. Forensic Sci. 38 (1993) 843.
- [62] T.P. Wampler, E.J. Levy, Liq. Chrom. Gas Chrom. 4 (1986) 1112.
- [63] C. Brown, P.L. Kirk, J. Forensic Sci. 5 (1954) 437.
- [64] D.A. Crown, J. Forensic Sci. 8 (1963) 117.
- [65] J.W. Thompson, J. Forensic Sci. Soc. 7 (1967) 199.
- [66] H.W. Moon, J. Forensic Sci. 25 (1980) 146.
- [67] S. Fanali, M. Schudel, J. Forensic Sci. 36 (1991) 1192.
- [68] K. Tsutsumi, K. Ohga, Anal. Sci. 12 (1996) 997.
- [69] E. Rohde, A.C. McManus, C. Vogt, W.R. Heineman, J. Forensic Sci. 42 (1997) 1004.
- [70] J.A. Zlotnick, F.P. Smith, Forensic Sci. Int. 92 (1998) 269.
- [71] R.L. Brunelle, A.A. Cantu, J. Forensic Sci. 32 (1987) 1522.
- [72] R.L. Brunelle, J. Forensic Sci. 37 (1992) 113.
- [73] A.A. Cantu, J. Forensic Sci. 31 (1986) 360.
- [74] A.A. Cantu, R.S. Prough, J. Forensic Sci. 32 (1987) 1151.
- [75] R.L. Brunelle, C.H. Breedlove, C.R. Midkiff, J. Forensic Sci. 32 (1987) 1511.
- [76] R.L. Brunelle, H. Lee, J. Forensic Sci. 34 (1989) 1166.
- [77] L.F. Stewart, J. Forensic Sci. 30 (1985) 405.
- [78] V.N. Aginsky, J. Chromatogr. A 678 (1994) 119.